# WHAT About

Zuchman?

# eBook Series: Issues Facing the Churches

David Cloud



What About Ruckman? Copyright 2012 by David W. Cloud This edition January 2012 ISBN 1-58318-032-X

This book is published for free distribution in eBook format. It is available in PDF, MOBI (for Kindle, etc.), and ePUB formats from the Way of Life web site.



Published by Way of Life Literature PO Box 610368, Port Huron, MI 48061 866-295-4143 (toll free) - fbns@wayoflife.org www.wayoflife.org

Canada: Bethel Baptist Church 4212 Campbell St. N., London Ont. N6P 1A6 519-652-2619

> Printed in Canada by Bethel Baptist Print Ministry

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	4
Ruckman's Errors	7
KJV Is Advanced Revelation	7
The KJV Is Given by Inspiration	10
Justifying Multiple Divorces	11
Men Are Saved in Different Ways	13
Strange, Fleshly Name Calling	15
Peculiar Doctrines	18
Ruckman and UFOs	22
Salvation in the Old and New Testaments	26
Conclusion	35
About Way of Life's eBooks	36
Powerful Publications for These Times	37

# Introduction

This report was published in its first edition in *O Timothy* magazine, Vol. 11, Issue 11, 1984.

Peter Ruckman, whose headquarters is in Pensacola, Florida, is the author of many books in defense of the King James Bible, and for good or bad his name has become intimately associated with this issue.

On January 24, 1985, I wrote to Dr. Ruckman from the mission field in South Asia and told him that I believed he had done more damage to the cause of the King James Bible than many of its detractors. I said:

"...your writings--because of the spirit in which they are given--actually make me desire to flee from whatever beliefs you are propounding. I sincerely fear ... that you have done more damage to the cause of the truth of the preservation of the Textus Receptus and the faithful translations thereof than have the enemies of this position."

I know these words make even some of my friends cringe, but I still believe this. Why? Because his strange thinking, his multiple divorces, his angry spirit, his arrogance, his Alexandrian cult mentality, his extremism regarding the KJV being advanced revelation, and his bizarre private doctrines tend to cause men to reject the entire issue.

Dr. Ruckman's teaching has also caused many unnecessary divisions and problems in churches. It is one thing if a Christian tries to stand for the King James Bible and leaves a church that does not so stand, but it is quite another matter if a Christian becomes caught up in Ruckman's peculiar doctrines and harsh spirit and comes to the conclusion that his church is apostate merely because it does not accept all of the jots and tittles of Ruckman's thinking even though it is a church that does not use or defend the modern versions.

An example of this occurred Bethel Baptist Church in London, Ontario. Pastor Wilbert Unger stands unhesitatingly for the King James Bible, but he does not swallow Ruckman's doctrines. To many Ruckman followers, though, if a man does not believe about the KJV what Ruckman believes and does not accept the KJV as "advanced revelation" that can correct even the Greek and Hebrew from which it was translated and as the apex of Bible infallibility, he is not a true Bible believer. To believe that the KJV is an accurate translation of the preserved Word of God is not enough. Some years ago the printer for Bethel Baptist Church began reading some of Ruckman's books and came to this conclusion. He felt that Bethel was not a Biblebelieving church and he began talking to some of the members, promoting Ruckman's views, stirring up trouble. He finally left the church because of this and left a gap in the printing ministry which the Lord had led the church to start.

This type of thing has happened frequently, sometimes resulting in church splits.

Let me also say that not every man who appreciates Peter Ruckman is a quarrelsome church splitter. I know several gracious Christian gentlemen who appreciate Dr. Ruckman to some degree. They particularly appreciate the fact that the man stands for an infallible Bible in a confused, wicked hour. They appreciate the fact that he has stirred the pot and caused some to look at the Bible version issue, and they are willing to overlook his problems. While each man must make up his own mind, I don't believe an extreme position on an issue is a blessing to that issue, and I don't believe a mean-spirited defense of the truth furthers the truth.

# **Ruckman's Errors**

For the record, I want to list the Ruckmanisms that I reject and the reasons why I believe that the man is dangerous.

#### **KJV Is Advanced Revelation**

Consider some of Ruckman's statements to this effect:

"The A.V. 1611 reading, here, is <u>superior to any Greek</u> <u>text</u>" (Peter Ruckman, *The Christian's Handbook of Manuscript Evidence*, Pensacola Bible Press, 1970, p. 118).

"Mistakes in the A.V. 1611 <u>are advanced</u> <u>revelation</u>!" (Ruckman, *Manuscript Evidence*, p. 126).

"A short handbook, such as this, will not permit an exhaustive account of the marvelous undesigned 'coincidences' which have slipped through the A.V. 1611 committees, unawares to them, and which give advanced light, and advanced revelation beyond the investigation of the greatest Bible students 300 year later" (Ruckman, *Manuscript Evidence*, p. 127).

"A little English will <u>clear up the obscurities in any Greek</u> <u>text</u>" (Ruckman, *Manuscript Evidence*, p. 147).

"If all you have is the 'original Greek,' you lose light" (Ruckman, Manuscript Evidence, p. 336).

"If you are able to obtain a copy [of Ruckman's proposed new book] you will have, in your hands, a minimum of <u>200 advanced revelations that came from the inerrant</u> <u>English text</u>, that were completely overlooked (or ignored) by every major Christian scholar since 90 A.D." (*Bible Believers' Bulletin*, Jan. 1994, pp. 2, 4).

"We shall deal with the English Text of the Protestant Reformation, and our references to Greek or Hebrew will only be made to enforce the authority of that text or <u>to</u> <u>demonstrate the superiority of that text to Greek and</u> <u>Hebrew</u>" (Peter Ruckman, *Problem Texts*, Preface, Pensacola Bible Institute Press, 1980, p. vii).

"Observe how accurately and beautifully <u>the infallible</u> <u>English text</u> straightens out Erasmus, Griesbach, Beza, Nestle, Aland, Metzger, Trench, Vincent, Davis, Wuest, Zodhiates, Elzevir, and Stephanus with the poise and grace of a swan as it smoothly and effectively breaks your arm with one flap of its wings. Beautiful, isn't it? <u>If</u> the mood or tense isn't right in any Greek text, the King James Bible will straighten it out in a hurry" (Ruckman, *Problem Texts*, pp. 348, 349).

"The original Hebrew had nothing to do with Genesis 1:1-3 at all [referring to Ruckman's heresy that the flood of 2 Peter 3:5-6 speaks of a flood that took place in Genesis 1:2]. It only muddied the issue. <u>Hebrew is of no help at all in understanding the passage</u>" (Peter Ruckman, *The Unknown Bible*, Bible Baptist Bookstore, 1984, p. 67).

"The King James test is the last and final statement that God has given to the world, and He has given it in the universal language of the 20th century ... The truth is that GOD SLAMMED THE DOOR OF REVELATION SHUT IN 389 BC AND SLAMMED IT SHUT AGAIN IN 1611" (Peter Ruckman, *The Monarch of Books*, Pensacola, 1973, p. 9). [Brother Cloud: In fact, God slammed the door of revelation shut in about 90 A.D. with the completion of the New Testament.]

If Ruckman is right, where was the infallible Word of God prior to 1611? What did the churches do from the time of the apostles until the 17th century? And what did they do before Ruckman came upon the scene to create this doctrine, because it is certain that no one taught it at an earlier date?

And if Ruckman is right and the Lord slammed the door of revelation shut in 1611 and if the KJV was "infallible" and "inerrant" in 1611, why is the edition we use today revised? If the KJV was inerrant in 1611 that would seem to mean that even the italics and spelling and punctuation was perfect, but it was modified in thousands of places. Between 1762-69 an extensive revision was carried out by Cambridge and Oxford Universities. The majority of the changes pertained to the correction of printing errors (e.g., "seek good" in Psalm 69:32 was changed to "seek God) and updating spelling (such as dropping the Old English "e" after the verb -- feare, blinde, sinne) and expanding the use of italics.

Hundreds of the changes to the KJV that were made in the 18th century were more substantial, such as the following:

- 1 Samuel 16:12 -- "requite good" changed to "requite me good"
- Esther 1:8 -- "for the king" changed to "for so the king"
- Isaiah 47:6 -- "the" changed to "thy"
- Isaiah 49:13 -- "God" changed to "Lord"
- Isaiah 57:8 "made a" changed to "made thee a"
- Ezekiel 3:11 -- "the people" changed to "the children of thy people"
- Naham 3:17 -- "the crowned" changed to "thy crowned"
- Acts 8:32 -- "shearer" changed to "his shearer"
- Acts 16:1 -- "which was a Jew" changed to "which was a Jewess"
- 1 Peter 2:5 -- "sacrifice" changed to "sacrifices"
- Jude 25 -- "now and ever" changed to "both now and ever"

Peter Ruckman and his followers need to explain what the terms "infallible" and "inerrant" mean when used to describe the King James Bible. Does it apply to spelling? Does it apply to the italics?

They need to tell us exactly which edition of the KJV is infallible and inerrant.

If they say that the 1611 itself was infallible and inerrant, they need to explain why they don't use the exact 1611 today.

#### The KJV Is Given by Inspiration

In *The Christian's Handbook of Biblical Scholarship*, pp. 271-272, Ruckman claims: "The King James Bible was 'given by inspiration of God.""

This is to confuse inspiration--which is a process whereby the Scriptures were given through holy men of old--with preservation, which is the process whereby God has kept the Scriptures since their original inspiration.

2 Timothy 3:16 refers to the giving of the Scripture.

"All scripture is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness."

The process of inspiration is further described in 2 Peter 1:20-21:

"Knowing this first, that no prophecy of the scripture is of any private interpretation. For the prophecy came not in old time by the will of man: but holy men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost."

These passages do not describe the copying of Scripture texts or the making of translations.

It is the doctrine of *preservation* that guarantees that the God would watch over the divinely-inspired Scripture to preserve it for future generations (Psa. 12:6-7; 100:5; Mat. 5:18; 24:35; etc.). This is the process whereby God preserved the

Scripture in the Hebrew and Greek texts and in accurately translated versions.

The King James Bible is the preserved Word of God in English insofar as it is an accurate translation of the divinelyinspired Word of God in Greek and Hebrew, not because it was "given by inspiration" in 1611 and thus became "advanced revelation."

#### **Justifying Multiple Divorces**

Peter Ruckman has been divorced two times and married three times yet he has been a pastor all along and he defends his unscriptural marital status in his book on divorce and remarriage and mocks those who challenge his qualification.

His first marriage was before his conversion, and it ended in 1962 when his wife left him and filed for divorce. He began pastoring the Brent Baptist Church in Pensacola, Florida, soon after that.

In 1972 Ruckman married the divorced wife of one of his former students. When a vote was taken in Brent Baptist as to whether the congregation supported his second marriage, 200 voted for it and 100 opposed it.

He subsequently resigned and started the Bible Baptist Church in Pensacola in 1974 with 17 people.

In 1988 Ruckman's second marriage ended when his wife walked out and sued for divorce.

Ruckman's third marriage was to a member of his church, a mother of three.

Divorces do not take place in a vacuum. They take place in an environment filled with anger, carnality, hostility, bitterness, and sin. That is not judgmentalism; it is fact. Some of my divorced friends confess this as forcefully as I do. In fact, consider how Ruckman himself describes his family life in days gone by:

"I have had two wives desert me after fifteen years of marriage ... I have been in court custody cases, where seven children's futures were held in the balance; in situations where Gospel articles were being torn out of typewriters, Biblical artwork torn off the easels, women trying to throw themselves out of cars at fifty m.p.h., mailing wedding rings back in the middle of revival services, cutting their wrists, threatening to leave if I did not give my church to their kinfolk; deacons threatening to burn down my house and beat me up; children in split custody between two domiciles two hundred miles apart, and knock-down, drag-out arguments in the home sometimes running as long as three days" (*The Last Grenade*, p. 339).

That is what the man admits took place. That is only a small glimpse into the sin and confusion surrounding those years. Friends, you can label me a judge if you want, but a man with that type of family life has no business in the pastorate. Let him preach on the streets. Let him preach in the jails. Let him preach in the nursing homes. Let him preach in other ways, but we must obey the Bible and reserve the pastorate for men who have godly homes.

Ruckman mocks those who call for high standards for the pastorate and who don't believe a divorced man fits God's requirements for the office. He calls them hypocrites and Pharisees. Consider how he describes his third marriage:

<sup>&</sup>quot;... we got married in a regular Sunday night service after the offering was taken up: bridesmaids, wedding cake, rice, shaving cream on the car, the whole works.

Standing room only. I WAS FLAUNTING MY FAITH IN THE FACE OF THE APOSTATE FUNDAMENTALISTS WHO WERE GOING TO 'CASH IN' ON MY MARRIAGE" (Ruckman, *The Full Cup*, p. 280).

On page 211 of his biography, Dr. Ruckman says that those who ask the question, "Do you think a divorced preacher is qualified for the ministry," are "SELF-RIGHTEOUS PHARISEES."

This mocking, ungodly attitude has encouraged other men that it's O.K. to be divorced and remain in the pastorate and even to flaunt the same before anyone who disagrees. Yes, sadly, many have followed Ruckman's lead.

#### Men Are Saved in Different Ways

Ruckman claims that men are saved in different ways in different dispensations.

He believes men were saved by Christ's blood plus works in the Old Testament, that they will be saved by faith plus works in the Tribulation, and that they will be saved by works alone in the Millennium.

In *Millions Disappear: Fact or Fiction?* Ruckman says:

"If the Lord comes and you remain behind, then start working like a madman to get to heaven, because you're going to have to. ... You must keep the Ten Commandments (all of them, Ecclesiastes 12:13), keep the Golden Rule (1 John 3:10), give your money to the poor, get baptized, take up your cross, hold out to the end of the Tribulation, wait for Jesus Christ to show up at the Battle of Armageddon, and be prepared to die for what you believe. In the Tribulation you cannot be saved by grace alone, like you could before the Rapture." Romans 4:1-8 plainly states that both Abraham before the law and David under the law were saved *by faith without works*.

"What shall we say then that Abraham our father, as pertaining to the flesh, hath found? For if Abraham were justified by works, he hath whereof to glory; but not before God. For what saith the scripture? Abraham believed God, and it was counted unto him for righteousness. Now to him that worketh is the reward not reckoned of grace, but of debt. But to him that worketh not, but believeth on him that justifieth the ungodly, his faith is counted for righteousness. Even as David also describeth the blessedness of the man, unto whom God imputeth righteousness without works, Saying, Blessed are they whose iniquities are forgiven, and whose sins are covered. Blessed is the man to whom the Lord will not impute sin."

This is the only plan of salvation God ever has had and ever will have: salvation by grace alone through faith alone based upon the shed blood of Jesus Christ alone.

The Old Testament saints did not know what the New Testament saint knows, but Romans 4 makes it plain that the Old Testament saints were saved by faith without works. Like Abraham, they believed God and it was counted unto them for righteousness.

Those who are saved in the coming Tribulation will also be saved through faith in the blood of Jesus Christ.

"These are they which came out of great tribulation, and have washed their robes, and made them white in the blood of the Lamb" (Rev. 7:14).

For more on this see the chapter "Salvation Is the Same in the Old Testament and the New Testament"

#### Strange, Fleshly Name Calling

Some of the choice names Ruckman calls men who disagree with him are the following:

- "jackass"
- "poor, dumb, stupid red legs"
- "silly asses"
- "apostolic succession of bloated egotists"
- "two-bit junkies"
- "two-faced, tin-horned punks"
- "incredible idiots"
- "egotistical jack legs"
- "conservative asses whose brains have gone to seed"
- "cheap, two-bit punks"
- "stupid, little, Bible-rejecting apostates"

Dr. Ruckman can get pretty vulgar. He calls the New American Standard Version "more of the same old godless, depraved crap" (*Satan's Masterpiece--the New ASV*, p. 67).

In *The Unknown Bible*, p. 100, Ruckman says, "You see how people get all screwed up?"

Ruckman believes God has called him to speak like this:

"God called me to sit at this typewriter and pour forth VINEGAR, ACID, VITRIOL, AND CLEANING FLUID on the leading conservative and fundamental scholars of 1900 through 1990. ... God is in charge. He ... destines me to sit at this typewriter and LAMBASTE, SCALD AND RIDICULE these Bible rejecting fundamentalists who 'believe the Bible is the Word of God,' ... I hereby dedicate myself anew to the task of DESTRUCTIVE CRITICISM AND NEGATIVE BLASTING against every adversary of that Holy Book..." (*The Bible Believers Bulletin*, Dec. 1985).

Ruckman's spirit and language is not scriptural. He is fighting for a holy Book in an unholy manner, and it is confusion.

James 3:13-17 says:

"Who is a wise man and endued with knowledge among you? let him shew out of a good conversation his works WITH MEEKNESS OF WISDOM. But if ye have BITTER ENVYING AND STRIFE in your hearts, glory not, and lie not against the truth. This wisdom descendeth not from above, but is earthly, sensual, devilish. For where envying and strife is, there is confusion and every evil work. But the wisdom that is from above is first PURE, then PEACEABLE, GENTLE, AND EASY TO BE INTREATED, FULL OF MERCY AND GOOD FRUITS, without partiality, and without hypocrisy."

My friends, this passage from the King James Bible condemns Ruckmanism. It tells me that Ruckman's spirit is earthly, sensual, and devilish. Enjoying Ruckman because he "gets after those Bible perverters" is the same carnal spirit as enjoying a good dog fight when the dog you have betted on is the biggest, meanest one around. "Sic 'em, Pete, sic 'em!" It is entertaining, and it is satisfying to the flesh, but God says bitter envying and strife is earthly, sensual, devilish. God says heavenly wisdom is peaceable, gentle, and full of mercy.

2 Timothy 2:24-26 says:

"And the servant of the Lord MUST NOT STRIVE: BUT BE GENTLE UNTO ALL MEN, apt to teach, PATIENT, IN MEEKNESS instructing those that oppose themselves; if God peradventure will give them repentance to the acknowledging of the truth; and that they may recover themselves out of the snare of the devil, who are taken captive by him at his will." Didn't the Lord Jesus and the apostles use some strong language? I know what Jesus called the Pharisees in Matthew 23. I have read how Paul, filled with the Spirit, spoke of the false teacher in Acts 13:9-10. I know the severe plainness with which the Spirit of God speaks of false teachers in passages such as 2 Peter 2 and Jude.

But there is a world of difference between the language used in the Bible and the language used by Peter Ruckman. There is a world of difference between the spirit of a Peter and a Paul or a Jude and the spirit of Peter Ruckman.

There is also a distinct difference between the way the Spirit of God deals with a saved but erring man and the way He deals with an unregenerate corrupter of the gospel.

There is a vast difference between the way the Lord Jesus Christ dealt with His own disciples and the way He dealt with the Pharisees. The same distinction is evident in the way that Paul dealt with Peter's hypocrisy in Galatians 2 and the way he dealt with the unsaved false teacher in Acts 13. Yet Ruckman makes no difference between the Pope, a Christ-denying theological modernist, or an erring fundamental Baptist brother in Christ. He lumps men such as John R. Rice and Stewart Custer together with John Paul II and Karl Barth and treats them in the same ridiculous manner.

# **Peculiar Doctrines**

Ruckman has a proud, cultic attitude that he alone has discovered truths that no one else in church history has discovered.

In bragging up his book *The Salient Verses*, Mr. Ruckman makes these comments:

"If you are able to obtain a copy [of Ruckman's proposed new book] you will have, in your hands, a minimum of 200 advanced revelations that came from the inerrant English text, that were completely overlooked (or ignored) by every major Christian scholar since 90 A.D. This would include all of the modern Bible revisers (1800-1999), all of the faculty members and staffs of every major 'Fundamental' (Conservative and Evangelical) seminary, university, and college in Europe and America since 1500, and every Greek and Hebrew scholar (or teacher) since 1611. ... Actually, if a Bible believer has this work he will have the accumulated knowledge of Cornelius Stam and Ethelbert Bullinger ... Clarence Larkin and C.I. Scofield, Ewing, Osborne, Tilton, and PTL ... Pember, Peters, Gaebelein, Pentecost, Lindsey, Kirban, Rockwood, Webber, and Van Impe ... plus the Puritans, Reformers, major evangelists (Moody, Sunday, Finney, Torrey, Wesley, etc.) and all that ANY Greek and Hebrew scholar ... ever found out--that was SO--in the last 200 years" (Ruckman, Bible Believers' Bulletin, Jan. 1994, pp. 2, 4).

In *The Unknown Bible*, Ruckman claims to hold to 14 "biblical truths" which all other Bible teachers have overlooked. On page 347, Ruckman modestly claims:

"Do you realize that in these last two chapters, you have learned a dozen things that were unknown to the greatest Bible teachers in the world? In 2000 years of church history, they haven't even been able to find the passage which dealt with these things we have been talking about." Some of Ruckman's long-overlooked "biblical truths" include the following:

1. Angels are thirty-three year old males without wings; and all women in the Church Age will receive thirty-three year old male bodies at the Rapture.

2. The plan of salvation for Tribulation saints is faith plus works and the plan of salvation in the Millennium is works alone.

3. When the believer is born again, his soul is literally cut loose from the inside of his fleshly body. (Ruckman takes spiritual circumcision very literally!)

4. Demons are winged creatures ranging in size from that of flies to eagles. "I know they [demons] have to be small. ... there's two little animals that have wings. One's a fly and the other's a mosquito. Know what these things are? They're pictures of demons. THE THINGS HAVE WINGS" (Ruckman, *Demons and Christians*, Bible Baptist Bookstore, 1976, side 1).

5. Sexual unions constitute marriage in God's sight.

6. The soul is an invisible bodily shape. "The problem is the word 'soul,' but since there isn't one pre-millennial, soulwinning, fundamentalist who knows what a soul is (see the entire library of books published by Eerdmans, Baker, Zondervan, and the *Sword of the Lord* before 1970) ... The soul in the Bible is an invisible BODILY SHAPE. In the Old Testament, the soul is almost synonymous with the body, for it is STUCK TO IT till death" (Ruckman, *Problem Texts*, p. 145). 7. The flood mentioned in 2 Peter 3 is not Noah's flood but is one that supposedly occurred at the judgment of the earth, when Satan was cast out of Heaven. Ruckman admits that no other Bible teacher has held this view: "Now who could get a message so simple all muddled up? Answer: Every major fundamental Bible scholar and teacher in the United States, without one exception. If you were to ask Henry Morris what the verses refer to he'd say Noah's flood: ditto Harry Rimmer, Clarence Larkin, J. Vernon McGee, Swindle (sic), MacArthur, Bob Jones III ... the Scofield Board of Editors" (Ruckman, *The Unknown Bible*, p. 67).

8. "God has ordained on this earth 12 boundaries, with 12 nations, who are destined to leave this earth (transported by angels--Luke 16:22), and populate outer space infinitely and forever, beginning with the 12 constellations that are seen on the earth once every 12 months" (*The Unknown Bible*, p. 588).

9. "In eternity, the Christian is in New Jerusalem; he is in his apartment house that is made out of transparent gold, like clear glass. ... He is called out on trips, and these trips take him to Mars, Jupiter, Venus, Saturn, Uranus, etc. transporting couples into gardens placing them down and saying, 'be fruitful and multiply, and replenish the earth'" (Ibid., p. 592).

Some Ruckmanites have challenged me to refute the Ruckman doctrines we have cited. I don't have to refute them; they are self refuting for the simple fact that they have no biblical authority, just as Rome's dogmas of purgatory and the ascension of Mary are self refuting.

Why should we have to refute nonsense? The Bible instructs us to avoid the foolish and unlearned questions of heretics (2 Tim. 2:23; Titus 3:9-11), and Ruckman's new doctrines certainly fall into this category.

# **Ruckman and UFOs**

According to one of Peter Ruckman's books, *Black Is Beautiful* (1996), UFOs are real, and if you doubt it you are an unbeliever like David Cloud.

(He mentions me at least thrice in the book, slanderously lumping me together with men who attack the King James Bible and labeling me an "apostate fundamentalist," which is his working principle. If Ruckman says two plus two equals five and you don't agree, you are an unbelieving "jack leg" and a "bloated egotist.")

Peter Ruckman believes that some of the medieval plagues in Europe were caused by UFOs, that a B-52 bomber was downed by a UFO and that aliens disemboweled the crew members, and that a crew member of a US Navy ship was transported into the future. He believes the CIA has implanted brain transmitters in children, old people, blacks, and prisoners (p. 243) and operates underground alien breeding facilities (p. 256).

He believes in Atlantis (p. 171) and the Bermuda Triangle, time warps (p. 160), creatures with one eye (p. 173), web footed aliens, blue aliens with blue blood (pp. 85, 86), black aliens with green blood (p. 244), and grey aliens with clear blood (pp. 310-11).

He believes that Adam originally had water in his veins instead of blood (p. 185).

He believes that the government is involved with UFO animal mutilations (p. 247). He believes that black helicopters carrying UN troops are "circling your homes" with the mission of attacking and imprisoning the populace (p. 233). He believes the U.S. federal government has kidnapped people and kept them alive in "amber liquid" (p. 230). He believes that the CIA flies around in space ships developed from technology gained when the government made a deal with aliens to allow them to kidnap children and use their organs as food and to experiment on U.S. citizens (pp. 291, 295-297).

Ruckman does not use facts; he abuses them. When his arguments are examined carefully and the nonsense and ranting and misused documentation is filtered out, one finds that he often builds his case upon thin air, fables, and half-truths.

Consider one example of his reasoning. An old Bolivian legend tells of a non-human race that had webbed feet. Old comic books about Daffy Duck and Donald Duck depict creatures with webbed feet (p. 85). Therefore, according to Ruckman's logic, the legend must be true and Donald Duck must be a secret depiction of aliens!

Ruckman concludes his "summary of evidence" with these words:

"If a twentieth-century college educated American does not believe in UFOs (and UFO occupants) he is MENTALLY SICK. He should see a shrink" (Ruckman, *Black Is Beautiful*, p. 343, emphasis in original).

If that is so, then please make me an appointment!

For 39 years, since I was converted by the grace of Jesus Christ, my sole authority has been the Bible, and the bottom line is that the Bible says nothing about UFOs and therefore it is not something I need to concern myself with, because the Bible is able to make me "perfect, thoroughly furnished unto all good works" (2 Tim. 3:16-17).

The verses that Ruckman cites in support of UFOS are taken out of context and grossly misused, not even remotely supporting such nonsense (e.g., Gen. 6:1-5; 2 Sam. 5:24; 2 Ki. 2:11; Isa. 14:29; Ezek. 1:4; Zech. 5:1-3).

Ruckman believes that the aliens are demons who are preparing to take control during the Tribulation and he cites Revelation 9:2-3, but this does not describe UFOs and it has nothing to do with events in our day. Revelation 9 describes demons who are currently imprisoned rather than appearing on earth.

Beware of men who claim to have found brand new things in the Bible that no one has seen in 2,000 years. As we have seen, Ruckman has entire books of such claims.

That is delusion and arrogance, and pride goeth before a fall.

The Lord Jesus Christ and the apostles did not teach God's people to worry about UFOs or to rage against the government. They taught us to honor those in authority and submit to them (Rom. 13:1-7; 1 Pet. 2:13-25), to live obedient and holy lives and to dedicate our lives to preaching the gospel to the ends of the earth until Christ returns (Mat. 28:18-20; Acts 1:8). You don't see the apostle Paul ranting against the Roman Empire and mocking its emperor.

Someone who has read Ruckman's book might be saying, "Brother Cloud, do you believe the United States is a godly country?" Of course it is not. "Don't you believe the USA is coming under the control of global powers?" Of course it is. "Don't you believe there are international conspiracies?" Of course there are. "Do you believe the mainstream media gives out the truth?" Of course I do not.

But none of this adds up to blue-blooded aliens and the CIA conducting experiments in alien cloning!

Dear friends in Christ, beware of the cultic element in the independent Baptist movement. Peter Ruckman has been able to prosper because there are so many gullible men who are responsive to the cultic entrancement of bombastic self promoters.

Those who honor Christ more than man and whose sole authority is truly the Bible and whose ultimate Teacher is the indwelling Spirit (1 John 2:27) will mot be deceived by pompous deceivers.

### Salvation in the Old and New Testaments By Bruce Lackey

Another great lesson to be learned from the New Testament use of the Old is that the way of salvation has not changed. While this author believes in the seven basic dispensations as outlined in the Scofield Reference Bible, he does not believe that there are different ways to be saved within the various dispensations.

Paul quoted Genesis 15:6 ("And he believed in the Lord, and he counted it to him for righteousness.") in Rom. 4:3 and Gal. 3:6, to show that we are saved the same way as Abraham was before the law.

He quoted Hab. 2:4 ("the just shall live by his faith") in Rom. 1:17 and Psa. 32:1-2 ("Blessed is he whose transgression is forgiven, whose sin is covered. Blessed is the man unto whom the Lord imputeth not iniquity.") in Rom. 4:6-8 to show the same about those during the dispensation of law.

Both Paul (Rom. 10:13) and Peter (Acts 2:21) quoted Joel 2:32 ("And it shall come to pass, that whosoever shall call on the name of the Lord shall be delivered"), which describes the tribulation period, to show that we must be saved now even as they will be then!

Paul told Timothy that the scriptures which he had known from childhood were able to make him wise unto salvation through faith in Christ Jesus, and these scriptures could only have been the Old Testament (2 Tim. 3:15).

The same glorious truth is taught in the following:

Romans 4:23-24 Romans 10:11, from Isaiah 28:14 2 Corinthians 6:2, from Isaiah 49:8 Galatians 3:8, from Genesis 12:3 Galatians 3:10, from Deuteronomy 27:26 Hebrews 10:37-38, from Isaiah 26:20 and Habakuk 2:3-4

The requirement of sacrifices in Old Testament times was to teach them two great truths: (1) death by the shedding of blood is necessary for the forgiveness of sin; and (2) no perfect sacrifice had yet appeared. They were to be looking for Him whose heel would be bruised, and who would bruise the head of the serpent (Gen. 3:15). (Bruce Lackey, Can You Trust Your Bible?, 3020 Northway Lane, Chattanooga, TN 37406).

NOTE FROM BROTHER CLOUD: The fact that the basis of salvation is the same in the Old Testament as well as the New does not mean there are no differences between the manner of salvation in the Old and the New. It means simply that salvation has always been by grace through faith and has always been based upon the shed blood of Jesus Christ, the lamb who was slain before the foundation of the world (Rev. 13:8). The Apostle Paul uses examples of men before the law and under the law to demonstrate that salvation is by grace through faith (Romans 4). Hebrews 4 teaches us that salvation rest was completed "from the foundation of the world" (verse 3) and has always been offered by God. That there are differences in the manner of salvation in the Old and the New is obvious. Old Testament saints were saved by faith, but what did Old Testament saints believe? That varied. They believed whatever God said to them at the time. What did Noah believe? He believed what God said about the flood. What did Abraham believe? He believed God's promises to him. What did Rahab the harlot believe? She believed that the God of Israel was the true and living God (Joshua 2:9-13). Old Testament saints believed God's revelation to them and their faith was accounted for righteousness, and from God's perspective it was always based upon the shed blood of Jesus Christ--though they might not have clearly understood that.

It is also true that many Old Testament saints understood a great deal about the Lord Jesus Christ. Luke 1:69-71 says God has been speaking to mankind about salvation "since the world began." Acts 3:21 says that the prophets of God have been speaking of the things of salvation and of the redemption of the creation and the establishment of the kingdom "since the world began." Abel was a prophet and doubtless understood something of the significance of the blood sacrifice he offered (Luke 11:50). Job, who probably wrote long before the establishment of the Jewish nation, understood that he would be resurrected bodily and see his Redeemer face to face (Job 19:25-27). Abraham rejoiced to see Christ's day (John 8:56) and knew that God one day would provide "Himself a sacrifice" (Gen. 22:8). David foresaw the resurrection of Christ (Acts 2:29-31). The Prophets of Israel understood much about the coming Messiah and His work (Psalm 22; Isaiah 53).

The point of this article is simple: Old Testament saints were saved by grace through faith based on the blood of Christ. They were NOT saved by works, or by works plus faith. We believe the same is true for Tribulation age saints, as well. They will make their robes white in the blood of the Lamb (Revelation 7:14), the only basis whereby any sinner can stand before a holy God. The following challenge to the previous teaching on salvation was offered by a reader:

"Perhaps I should start by saying that I am one who holds that salvation is settled in this present age by grace through faith in the finished work of Christ, plus nothing. On the other hand, I cannot accept the belief that salvation is the 'same' throughout both the Old and New Testaments. I believe that to hold this position is forcing the Bible to say something that it doesn't say.

"I am quite familiar with the arguments that point to various Old and New Testament passages that you alluded to in the article received today. Yes, the grace of God existed and will exist in every dispensation from Adam and Eve into the 'ages of ages.' I also hold that the revelation of the grace of God in Jesus Christ was not known beforehand as we know it in this age. I'm sure you know what passages and examples that I would use to 'prove' my point.

"Let me provide a specific example that illustrates the doctrine which I hold as truth. This example convinced me that salvation is 'different' from what is true for this age. You made the statement that 'We believe the same is true for Tribulation age saints, as well. They will make their robes white in the blood of the Lamb (Revelation 7:14), the only basis whereby any sinner can stand before a holy God.' I agree that the Tribulation saints will wash their robes white in the blood of the Lamb as stated in Rev. 7:14. Yes, salvation for Tribulation saints comes by the Blood of Christ, but there are passages, in my 'humble' opinion, that state they must 'keep it' to stay saved:

"Rev. 14:11-12 -- 'And the smoke of their torment ascendeth up for ever and ever: and they have no rest day nor night, who worship the beast and his image, and whosoever receiveth the mark of his name. Here is the patience of the saints: here are they that keep the commandments of God, and the faith of Jesus.' "I believe that if any saint in the Tribulation takes the mark of the Beast that they will lose their salvation.

"Rev. 20:4 -- 'And I saw thrones, and they sat upon them, and judgment was given unto them: and I saw the souls of them that were beheaded for the witness of Jesus, and for the word of God, and which had not worshipped the beast, neither his image, neither had received his mark upon their foreheads, or in their hands; and they lived and reigned with Christ a thousand years.'

"Matt. 24:13 -- 'But he that shall endure unto the end, the same shall be saved.'

"Matt. 25:31-46 -- These verses show that salvation is conditional upon doing good works in addition to trusting in Christ. I cannot force these verses into our church age salvation unless I jam them into a line of theology that states that salvation is exactly the same in any dispensation.

"Another example is the verses found at the end of the book of Revelation (22:14 and 15). These verses say something to me that is foreign to my salvation. I don't have to do his commandments to have right to the tree of life. I have salvation apart from doing his commandments (see Acts through Philemon). This passage is obviously aimed at another group of individuals not in this dispensation. To believe otherwise is to force the verse to mean something it wasn't meant to mean.

"One last thing, some of the brethren who disagree with this position seem to take an unreasonable stand which is to accuse us of not believing in the GRACE OF GOD IN CHRIST. I find this very unreasonable. I don't hold those who believe otherwise to be unbelievers, heretics, apostates, etc. I just believe they are wrong. That's all. No big deal!

"Whatever the case I hope you still consider me a friend of your ministry of which I am a supporter."

In reply we would offer the following remarks:

I. In my opinion this position is contrary to everything the New Testament PLAINLY says about salvation. Scripture must be interpreted in light of context--not only immediate context but the context of the entire Bible and all that the Bible teaches on that particular doctrine. To fail to do this is the same error that allows the Seventh-day Adventists to say that certain verses teach soul sleep, or for the Assemblies of God to say that certain verses teach a born again child of God can lose his salvation, or for the Catholic church to find apostolic succession and the real presence in the Bible.

One teaching of the Bible which would not allow me to accept that Tribulation saints are saved by a combination of faith and works or blood and faithfulness is the doctrine that grace and works are mutually exclusive.

"And if by grace, then is it no more of works: otherwise grace is no more grace. But if it be of works, then is it no more grace: otherwise work is no more work" (Romans 11:6).

This verse is not referring merely to salvation in this age. It points back to the Old Testament and points to the future to the salvation of Israel. That is the context. This is also the context of Romans 4, which plainly teaches that salvation is by grace WITHOUT WORKS. That passage points back to the Old Testament, both before the law (vv. 1-5) and during the law (vv. 6-8). Paul teaches us that Old Testament saint Abraham is the example of salvation for all ages (Romans 4:9-25). "Therefore it is of faith, that it might be by grace; to the end the promise might be sure TO ALL THE SEED; not to that only which is of the law, but to that also which is of the faith of Abraham; who is the father of us all" (Romans 4:16). I don't see how you can say this applies only to church-age saints. The challenger says, "I cannot force these verses into our church age salvation unless I jam them into a line of theology that states that salvation is exactly the same in any dispensation."

That is precisely what I believe the Apostle does in Romans.

2. The verses cited do not necessarily say that eternal salvation in the Tribulation is gained by some sort of works or holding out faithful. In my estimation, only two of the verses cited even APPEAR to teach that salvation during the tribulation is by works. The challenger says, "I believe that if any saint in the Tribulation takes the mark of the Beast that they will lose their salvation." I don't see any verse that plainly says that. You cited three in Revelation, but none of them teach that.

All of these verses could just as easily teach what I believe they teach: that perseverance and works are the *evidence* of salvation. Many verses used by Arminians to teach salvation can be lost are actually teaching that perseverance is the evidence of salvation (e.g., Heb. 3:14; 6:9; 10:38-39). These verses are very similar in their doctrine to the ones cited. The only reason I can be certain that these verses DO NOT teach that a born again child of God can lose his salvation is the fact that multitudes of plain verses ELSEWHERE teach otherwise. This follows the sound method of interpreting individual passages of the Bible in the context of the whole Bible.

What about Revelation 14:11-12? I find no salvation by works here. One CAN read such doctrine into the passage, but the words themselves do not require it. The verses could just as easily mean that the keeping of the commandments of God and the patience of the saints is the evidence of true sainthood, of true faith. Many Bible passages teach this.

Revelation 20:4. Again, the verse does not say plainly that these saints gained their salvation in any sense by not worshipping the beast. The fact is stated that they did not worship the beast, but that is not the same as saying that such action aided in their salvation.

Revelation 22:14-15. Again, the passage does not say that the doing of the commandments is how these people gain the right to the tree of life. There is a connection, obviously, between doing commandments and partaking of the tree of life, but it is not necessarily direct. It could be evidential. And that conforms to the apostolic doctrine of salvation in Romans.

Matthew 24:13. This verse does use the word salvation, but I don't believe it refers to salvation by works or by endurance. That would contradict the Bible's frequent and plain teaching on the subject as already noted. In my estimation, it would throw everything into confusion. And it is not necessary to believe that this verse teaches some sort of salvation by endurance. The endurance could as easily be the evidence of salvation. Many other verses teach this -- John 10:27; 1 Corinthians 15:2; Colossians 1:22-23; Hebrews 3:14; 6:9; 10:38-39; 1 John 3:3.

Also, salvation in the Bible does not always refer to eternal salvation. See 1 Timothy 2:15; 4:16; Hebrews 5:7; 11:7; James 5:15; 1 Peter 3:20; 2 Peter 2:5; Jude 1:5, etc..

The salvation referred to in Matthew 24:13 could refer to salvation in regard to the physical life during the Tribulation.

Matthew 25:31-46. Again, I believe the nations are judged on the basis of whether or not they had faith as evidenced by their attitude toward God's people, Israel.

# Conclusion

While I have serious problems with Dr. Ruckman, I also have serious problems with many of his detractors. Many of Ruckman's most bitter enemies are trying to discredit the idea that there is an authoritative Bible anywhere in the world. They have their own rotten agenda, undermining men's faith in the preservation of God's Word (in any practical sense) and attempting to pollute their minds with the strange, unscriptural, convoluted theories of modern textual criticism.

"Who, then, can we trust?" some might be thinking? The Word of God says, "Cursed be the man that trusteth in man, and maketh flesh his arm ... Blessed is the man that trusteth in the Lord, and whose hope the Lord is" (Jer. 17:5, 7).

Man is imperfect even at his best. Our confidence must be in Jesus Christ and in His eternal Word. Let no man shake your confidence in that.

# **About Way of Life's eBooks**

Since January 2011, Way of Life Literature books have been available in eBook format. Some are available for purchase while others are available for free download.

The eBooks are designed and formatted to work well on a variety of applications/devices, but not all apps/devices are equal. Some allow the user to control the appearance and layout of the book while others don't even display italics! For best reading pleasure, please choose your reading app carefully.

For some suggestions, see the report "iPads, Kindles, eReaders, and Way of Life Materials," at the Way of Life web site at the Way of Life web site <u>www.wayoflife.org/</u><u>database/styled-3/</u>

#### Which Format?

Our goal is to publish our books in the three most popular formats: PDF, Mobi (Kindle, etc.), and ePub (iBooks, etc.). Individual titles, though, may not be available in all formats. Many of the Way of Life titles can be found on <u>Amazon.com</u>, Apple <u>iBookstore</u>, and/or <u>Google Books</u>. The major advantage of obtaining your eBook from the Amazon Kindle store or Apple's iBooks store is that they provide syncing across devices (i.e.: a Kindle reader and Kindle for PC or Kindle for Mac and iPad). If you read on multiple devices and use bookmarks or make highlights, consider a store download from the appropriate site.

# Powerful Publications for These Times

Following is a selection of the titles published by Way of Life Literature. The books are available in both print and eBook editions (PDF, Kindle, ePub). The materials can be ordered via the online catalog at the Way of Life web site -www.wayoflife.org -- or by phone 866-295-4143.

*FUNDAMENTAL LESSONS IN HOW TO STUDY THE BIBLE*. This very practical course deals with requirements for effective Bible study, marking your Bible, and rules of Bible interpretation.

THE BIBLE VERSION QUESTION ANSWER DATABASE, ISBN 1-58318-088-5. This book provides diligently-researched, in-depth answers to more than 80 of the most important questions on this topic. A vast number of myths are exposed, such as the myth that Erasmus promised to add 1 John 5:7 to his Greek New Testament if even one manuscript could be produced, the myth that the differences between the Greek texts and versions are slight and insignificant, the myth that there are no doctrines affected by the changes in the modern versions, and the myth that the King James translators said that all versions are equally the Word of God. It also includes reviews of several of the popular modern versions, including the Living Bible, New Living Bible, Today's English Version, New International Version, New American Standard Version, The Message, and the Holman Christian Standard Bible.

CONTEMPORARY CHRISTIAN MUSIC: SOME QUESTIONS ANSWERED AND SOME WARNINGS GIVEN, ISBN 1-58318-094-x. This book expounds on five

reasons why we are opposed to CCM: It is worldly; it is ecumenical; it is charismatic; it is experience-oriented; and it weakens the fundamentalist stance of churches. We give examples of how changes are occurring in formerly fundamentalist churches through the instrumentality of contemporary music. The rest of the book deals with questions that are commonly asked on this subject, such as the following: What is the difference between using contemporary worship music and using old hymns that were interdenominational? Didn't Luther and the Wesleys use tavern music? Isn't the issue of music just a matter of taste? Doesn't the Bible encourage us to use cymbals and stringed and loud sounding instruments? What is wrong with soft rock? Didn't God create all music? Love is more important than doctrine and standards of living, isn't it? Since God looks on the heart, why are you concerned about appearance? Isn't Christianity all about grace? What about all of the young people who are being saved through CCM?

*ISRAEL: PAST, PRESENT, FUTURE*, ISBN 978-1-58318-116-4. This is a package consisting of a 234-page illustrated book, a DVD series, and a series of Powerpoint/Keynote presentations for teachers. The package covers all of the major facets pertaining to Israel in a professional, technologically cutting-edge way: geography, culture, archaeology, history, current events, and prophecy. The series begins with an amazing aerial flyover over the land of Israel.

**KEEPING THE KIDS: HOW TO KEEP THE CHILDREN FROM FALLING PREY TO THE WORLD,** ISBN 978-1-58318-115-7. This book aims to help parents and churches raise children to be disciples of Jesus Christ and to avoid the pitfalls of the world, the flesh, and the devil. The book is a collaborative effort. It contains testimonies from hundreds of individuals who provided feedback to our questionnaires on this subject, as well as powerful ideas gleaned from interviews with pastors, missionaries, and church people who have raised godly children. The book is packed with practical suggestions and deals with many issues: Conversion, the husband-wife relationship, the necessity of permeating the home with Christian love, mothers as keepers at home, the father's role as the spiritual head of the home, child discipline, separation from the pop culture, discipleship of youth, the grandparents' role in "keeping the kids," effectual prayer, and fasting.

*MUSIC FOR GOOD OR EVIL* (4 DVDs). This video series for July 2011 is a new replacement for previous presentations we have produced on this subject. The series, which is packed with graphics, video and audio clips, has seven segments. I. Biblical Principles of Good Christian Music: II. Why We Reject Contemporary Christian Music. III. The Sound of Contemporary Christian Music. IV. Transformational Power of CCM. V. Southern Gospel. VI. Marks of Good Song Leading. VII. Questions Answered on Contemporary Christian Music.

**ONE YEAR DISCIPLESHIP COURSE,** ISBN 978-1-58318-117-1. (new title for 2011) This powerful course features 52 lessons in Christian living. It can be broken into sections and used as a new converts course, an advanced discipleship course, a Sunday School series, a Home Schooling or Bible Institute course, or preaching outlines. The lessons are thorough, meaty, and very practical. There is an extensive memory verse program built into the course, and each lesson features carefully designed review questions.

THE PENTECOSTAL-CHARISMATIC MOVEMENTS: THE HISTORY AND THE ERROR, ISBN 1-58318-099-0. This book begins with the author's own experience with the Pentecostal movement. The next section deals with the history of the Pentecostal movement, beginning with a survey of miraculous signs from the second to the 18th centuries. We deal with Charles Parham, Azusa Street Mission, major Pentecostal healing evangelists, the Sharon Schools and the New Order of the Latter Rain, the Word-Faith movement and its key leaders, the Charismatic Movement, the Roman Catholic Charismatic Renewal, the Pentecostal Prophets, the Third Wave, the Laughing-Drunken Revival of Toronto, Pensacola, Lakeland, etc., and the recent Pentecostal scandals. The last section deals with the theological errors of the Pentecostal-Charismatic movements.

**REPENTANCE AND SOUL WINNING,** ISBN 1-58318-062-1. This is an in-depth study on biblical repentance and a timely warning about unscriptural methods of presenting the gospel. The opening chapter, entitled "Fundamental Baptists and Quick Prayerism: A Faulty Method of Evangelism Has Produced a Change in the Doctrine of Repentance," traces the change in the doctrine of repentance among fundamental Baptists during the past 50 years.

**SEEING THE NON-EXISTENT: EVOLUTION'S MYTHS AND HOAXES**, ISBN 1-58318-002-8. (new title for 2011) This book is designed both as a stand alone title as well as a companion to the apologetics course *AN UNSHAKEABLE FAITH*. The contents are as follows: Canals on Mars, Charles Darwin and His Granddaddy, Thomas Huxley: Darwin's Bulldog, Ernst Haeckel: Darwin's German Apostle, Icons of Evolution, Icons of Creation, The Apemen, Predictions, Questions for Evolutionists, Darwinian Gods, Darwin's Social Influence.

**THINGS HARD TO BE UNDERSTOOD:** A **HANDBOOK OF BIBLICAL DIFFICULTIES,** ISBN 1-58318-002-8. This very practical volume deals with a wide variety of biblical difficulties. Find the answer to the seeming contradictions in the Bible. Meet the challenge of false teachers who misuse biblical passages to prove their doctrine. Find out the meaning of difficult passages that are oftentimes overlooked in the Bible commentaries. Our objective is to help God's people have confidence in the inerrancy of their Bibles and to protect them from the false teachers that abound in these last days. Jerry Huffman, editor of *Calvary Contender*, testified: "You don't have to agree with everything to greatly benefit from this helpful book."

AN UNSHAKEABLE FAITH: A CHRISTIAN APOLOGETICS COURSE, ISBN 978-1-58318-119-5. (new title for 2011) The course is built upon nearly 40 years of serious Bible study and 30 years of apologetics writing. Research was done in the author's personal 6,000-volume library plus in major museums and other locations in America, England, Europe, Australia, Asia, and the Middle East. The package consists of an apologetics course entitled AN UNSHAKEABLE FAITH (both print and eBook editions) plus an extensive series of Powerpoint/Keynote presentations. (Keynote is the Apple version of Powerpoint.) The 1,800 PowerPoint slides deal with archaeology, evolution/creation science, and the prophecies pertaining to Israel's history. The material in the 360-page course is extensive, and the teacher can decide whether to use all of it or to select only some portion of it for his particular class

and situation. After each section there are review questions to help the students focus on the most important points. The course can be used for private study as well as for a classroom setting. Sections include The Bible's Nature, The Bible's Proof, The Dead Sea Scrolls, The Bible's Difficulties, Historical Evidence for Jesus, Evidence for Christ's Resurrection, Archaeological Treasures Confirming the Bible, A History of Evolution, Icons of Evolution, Icons of Creation, Noah's Ark and the Global Flood.

WAY OF LIFE ENCYCLOPEDIA OF THE BIBLE & CHRISTIANITY, ISBN 1-58318-005-2. This lovely hardcover Bible Encyclopedia contains 640 pages (8.5X11) of information, with more than 6,000 entries, and 7,000 cross-references. It is a complete dictionary of biblical terminology and features many other areas of research not often covered in Bible reference volumes. Subjects include Bible versions, Denominations, Cults, Christian Movements, Typology, the Church, Social Issues and Practical Christian Living, Bible Prophecy, and Old English Terminology. An evangelist in South Dakota wrote: "If I were going to the mission field and could carry only three books, they would be the Strong's concordance, a hymnal, and the Way of Life Bible Encyclopedia." Missionary author Jack Moorman says: "The encyclopedia is excellent. The entries show a 'distilled spirituality." A computer edition of the Encyclopedia is available as a standalone eBook for PDF, Kindle, and ePub. It is also available as a module for Swordseacher.

> Way of Life Literature P.O. Box 610368, Port Huron, MI 48061 866-295-4143, fbns@wayoflife.org www.wayoflife.org

This book is published for free distribution in eBook format. It is available in PDF, MOBI (for Kindle, etc.), and ePUB formats from the Way of Life web site. See the Free Book tab - <u>www.wayoflife.org</u>.

> What About Ruckman? Copyright 2012 by David W. Cloud